# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC 10-1463

\_\_\_\_\_

#### TERANCE VALENTINE

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee,

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 13<sup>TH</sup> JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_\_

RICHARD E. KILEY Florida Bar No. 0558893 Assistant CCC

JAMES VIGGIANO Florida Bar No. 0715336 Assistant CCC

ALI ANDREW SHAKOOR
Florida Bar No. 669830
CAPITAL COLLATERAL
REGIONAL
COUNSEL - MIDDLE
REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive
Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544
813-740-3554 (Facsimile)

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

## I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Mr. Valentine was charged by indictment on September 21, 1988 with: Count One, Burglary-Armed, F.S. 810.02, a first degree felony; Count Two, Kidnapping, F.S. 787.01 (1)(A)(3), a first degree felony; Count Three, Kidnapping, F.S. 787.01 (1)(A)(3), a first degree felony; Count Four, Grand Theft - Second

Degree, F.S. 812.014 (2)(B), a second degree felony; Count Five, First Degree Murder, F.S. 782.04, a capital felony; and Count Six, Attempted Murder-First Degree, F.S. 782.04 and F.S. 777.04, a first degree felony.

Mr. Valentine's first trial resulted in a mistrial where the jury was unable to reach a verdict. After a second trial, Mr. Valentine was convicted on all counts. The jury recommended death on the first-degree murder charge and the judge imposed a sentence of death. The Florida Supreme Court reversed the conviction and vacated the sentence due to a jury selection error under State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984). See Valentine v. State, 616 So.2d 971 (Fla. 1993). On retrial, Mr. Valentine was again convicted on all counts. Mr. Valentine waived the jury advisory sentence and presented mitigating evidence directly to the judge. The trial court again sentenced Mr. Valentine to death on September 30, 1994. On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court reversed the conviction for attempted first-degree murder and vacated the sentence. The Court affirmed the remaining convictions and sentences including the first-degree murder conviction and sentence of death. See Valentine v. State, 688 So.2d 313 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 830, 118 S.Ct. 95, 139 L.Ed.2d 51 (1997).

On May 28, 1999, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel filed Defendant's Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for leave to Amend. (Shell motion).

On July 16, 1999, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel filed a Motion to Extend or Toll filing time for 3.850 Motion.

On August 9, 1999, Capital Collateral Regional Counsel withdrew from the instant case and Mr. Nick Sinardi (Registry counsel) was appointed to represent Mr. Valentine.

On October 4, 1999, the Court formally entered an order appointing Mr. Nick Sinardi to represent Mr. Valentine in this case. Mr. Sinardi filed his 3.850 motion on May 25, 2001.

On August 1, 2002 a "Huff" hearing was held.

On October 28, 2002, the post conviction court entered an Order Denying, In Part, Defendant's Motion to Vacate and Set Aside the Judgment of Conviction and Sentence. (PCR Vol. V p. 906-984)

On February 23, 2006, Mr. Nick J. Sinardi withdrew from the case and a Mr. Daniel F. Daly was appointed to represent Mr. Valentine. Mr. Daly withdrew from the case on April 2, 2007.

On August 8, 2007, CCRC-M filed a Notice of Appearance. The post-conviction Court allowed CCRC-M to amend the previously filed motion regarding PENALTY PHASE CLAIMS ONLY.

An evidentiary hearing was held on October 13, 2008, October 14, 2008 and July 22, 2009. The post conviction Court entered its order denying relief on July2, 2010. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed, this appeal follows.

#### **EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

## **Testimony of Walter Lopez**

Walter Lopez was the penalty phase attorney at Mr. Valentine's trial on July 19<sup>th</sup>, 1994. He assumed that position when William Fuente was appointed to the circuit bench. (PCR Vol. XVII p.159-160). Trial counsel did not know whether or not Dr. Gamache had spoken to any of the witnesses that were presented at the penalty phase. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 163). Dr. Gamache's opinion focused on Mr. Valentine's competency rather than the statutory mental mitigators. (PCR Vol.

XVII p. 170). Trial counsel testified that he never expected this case to go to a penalty phase. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 180). Upon conviction in first phase, trial counsel make no attempt to establish the statutory mitigation.

The presentation of mitigation at trial is detailed at (PCR Vol. XVII p. 181-187).

Mr. Lopez did supply Dr. Gamache with records of Mr. Valentine's prior incarceration in an attempt to establish non-statutory mitigation and Mr. Valentine's adaptability to prison life, but stated that Dr. Gamache did not talk to the mitigation witnesses. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 184-185). Mr. Lopez did not provide Dr. Gamache with trial transcripts or depositions or police reports. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 381-382).

## **Testimony of Dr. Henry Dee**

Dr. Henry Dee was a neuropsychologist who was qualified to testify before the post-conviction court. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 193). Dr. Dee examined Mr. Valentine on September 27, 28, 2007 and January 10, 2008. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 194-195). Prior to examining Mr. Valentine at UCI on the dates specified; Dr. Dee had reviewed the Florida Supreme Court's opinion, recorded phone calls between Mr. Valentine and his wife, depositions of Nancy Cioll, testimony of Olivia Porche

Romero, deposition of Jorge Fernandez, excerpts from the penalty phase testimony and phone conversations between Mr. Valentine and his daughter Giovanna. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 195-196). Dr. Dee reviewed the material for two reasons. One was to give him an idea of his mental state at the time he was talking to his ex-wife which was shortly after the murder of Ferdinand Porche. Dr. Dee thought it would give him a better idea of how Valentine was operating at that time and give some description of lay witnesses and also to avoid the danger of self-reporting. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 196-197). Dr. Dee opined that Valentine had a credibility inflated estimate of his personal power and his ability to achieve things. He engaged at times in almost magical thinking. (PCR Vol. XVII p.199). Dr. Dee thought it somewhat bizarre that shortly after the crime was committed, Mr. Valentine called the surviving victim to brag about the crime and threaten suit to the victim and demand that the victim go down and drop all charges against him. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 199-200). Dr. Dee opined that Valentine's own estimate of his personal power and ability to achieve things and even make sense about what he wanted people to do was clearly impaired. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 200). The indications of grandiosity, the rather bizarre behavior, the bragging, led Dr. Dee to believe that Valentine was suffering from a disease or defect of the mind, specifically, mania.

(PCR Vol. XVII p. 200-201). Dr. Dee described mania as both a mental disturbance and an emotional disturbance. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 201).

Dr. Dee opined that Mr. Valentine was suffering from extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 203-204). From a review of the trial transcript; most notably, the testimony of Valentine's sister, Dr. Dee discovered two head injuries where Mr. Valentine was taken to the hospital for treatment. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 204-205).

Dr. Dee further opined that Mr. Valentine was not a malingerer, rather he would intentionally or unintentionally would minimize any psychopathology, Mr. Valentine does everything he can to make a positive impression on other people and to impress them with his intelligence and vocabulary. (PCR Vol.XVII p.210-211). Dr. Dee's diagnosis of mania was reinforced at (PCR Vol. XVII p. 212-214).

Dr. Dee also opined that Mr. Valentine's sense of self worth and his sense of importance was exaggerated. Dr. Dee further opined that Valentine eluded constantly that things will happen almost like magic and that because he believes something should happen, it will happen. It was Dr. Dee's opinion that even a casual reading of the trial transcripts and the depositions would prompt a mental health professional to conclude that this man may be suffering from some disease

or defect of the mind. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 215). As a result of this preliminary investigation, Dr. Dee went back to UCI to further evaluate Mr. Valentine. He concluded that Valentine was suffering from a mood disturbance, specifically bipolar disorder. Mostly manic episodes and most recently and episode of hypomanic. Dr. Dee opined that it has been present for many years. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 216).

Dr. Dee then gave Mr. Valentine a battery of neuropsychological tests including the Wechsler Adult Intelligent Scale. Dr. Dee explained how the tests worked and ultimately opined that Mr. Valentine, although he is a very intelligent man, has suffered brain damage due to instances in childhood where he fell and/or dropped and lost consciousness and had to be hospitalized. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 216-222). Dr. Dee opined that the testing revealed that Mr. Valentine suffers from frontal lobe damage. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 225). As a result, people who have frontal lobe damage "don't plan well". (PCR Vol. XVII p. 225). Dr. Dee also opined that people with this type of brain damage are a good deal more impulsive and a good deal more irritable than the normal person. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 226).

In addition to the mania, Dr. Dee opined that the frontal lobe damage in and of itself, indicates that Mr. Valentine was operating under extreme mental or

emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 227). Dr. Dee also opined that the results of the tests coincide with the examples of his behavior during his childhood and the information gleaned from Mr. Valentine in the clinical interview. It was apparent to Dr. Dee that this man had these problems all of his life. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 228-229). Dr. Dee also opined that Mr. Valentine had mood disturbance for most of his life. Dr. Dee testified that mood disturbance is a presentation of abnormally intense and often inappropriate mood states. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 229-230).

Dr. Dee ultimately opined that Mr. Valentine was operating under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 231). Regarding the evaluation done by Dr. Gamache, Dr. Dee testified that from a reading of Dr. Gamache's material; there was no indication that Gamache had read any of the trial transcripts, (unlike Dr. Dee). Nor does it indicate that Dr. Gamache interviewed any penalty phase witnesses. Nor does it indicate that Dr. Gamache had an extensive clinical interview with Mr. Valentine, (again unlike Dr. Dee). (PCR Vol. XVII p. 258-259). Based upon Dr. Gamache's billing records, Dr. Dee testified that Gamache could not have given Valentine the neuropsychological battery of tests and interviewed him because there wasn't

enough time billed for doing all that. Gamache billed for three hours, and Dr. Dee's evaluation took at least 16 hours. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 260).

### **Testimony of Dr. Ronald Wright**

Dr. Ronald Wright testified by telephone at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 263). Dr. Wright is a forensic pathologist who was qualified to render an opinion in this case. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 268). Dr. Wright was retained to render an opinion regarding the autopsy report of Ferdinand Porche. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 268-269). Dr. Wright was concerned that the medical examiner did not go to the scene where the body of Ferdinand Porche was discovered. Dr. Wright testified that this failure to visit the scene was probably below the standard in medical examiner work. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 270). However, Dr. Wright had no dispute with Dr. Miller, (the medical examiner) that the cause of death for Ferdinand Porche was multiple gunshot wounds. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 271).

## **Testimony of Eddie Gray**

Eddie Gray, a Texas resident, testified by telephone at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 304). Mr. Gray testified that he knows Mr. Valentine and had met Livia Romero. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 305). Mr. Gray testified that he knew Mr. Valentine from his activities in the drug business and there came a time

where Mr. Gray owed Mr. Valentine sixty thousand dollars as a result of the drug business. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 306). Mr. Gray testified that the money owed by Valentine was paid back by Livia Romero Valentine on four separate occasions consisting of \$15,000 payments to Gray. The exchanges were made at a Greyhound bus station. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 306-307).

## **Testimony of Terence Valentine**

Mr. Valentine testified that he was arrested in New Orleans and taken to the FBI building on Pointer Street. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 313). Mr. Valentine saw a magistrate once after his arrest. His attorney Mr. Unterberger, filed a motion to suppress based on an illegal warrant. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 314-315). Mr. Valentine testified that he was a Costa Rican national at the time of his arrest on February 26<sup>th</sup> 1989. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 315-316). Mr. Valentine further testified that he asked to speak with the Costa Rican consul and was ignored by law enforcement. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 316).

Mr. Valentine testified that he married Livia Romero in 1973 or 1972 and was still married to her on September 9<sup>th</sup>, 1988. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 317). Livia Romero never became Livia Porche. At the evidentiary hearing the following exchange took place:

- Q. Do you remember hearing the name Livia Porche used throughout your trial?
- A. At least 150 times. In all different kinds of connotations she was Livia Porche. She was the wife of Ferdinand Porche and I was the ex-husband and that went on over and over and over. My attorney used it. The Judge used it. The prosecutor used it. Everybody used it. She was Porche in all the paperwork except when she was presented on the stand she was Romero then.
- Q. Did she was she actually called Livia Porche and referred to as Livia Porche in front of the presence of the jury?
- A. Yes, sir, numerous times. In fact she was Livia Porche when she collected monies as the widow of Ferdinand Porche when in fact she was never married to him.
- Q. Is it safe to say when the Chevy Blazer was stolen from her on September 9<sup>th</sup>, 1988, you two were still married?
- A. Yes. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 318).

Mr. Valentine testified about Livia's propensity for fraud. (PCR Vol. XVII p. 325-327) At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Valentine testified that his divorce from Livia became final in 2000. (PCR Vol. XVIII p. 340).

## **Testimony of Karen Cox**

Karen Cox was called as a witness on behalf of the State at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 390). On cross examination, the following exchange occurred:

- Q. And you just testified you did not do the indictment, but obviously you read the indictment, right?
- A. Oh, yes, I absolutely read the indictment. I don't remember what it said at this point, but, yes.
- Q. And the indictment had the name Livia Porche?
- A. I don't know. I don't remember what the indictment said. But I didn't I do not, I don't believe, participate in the indictment. I know I didn't participate in the first trial. And I don't have any recollection, have no reason to believe that I would have participated in any of the investigation of this case based on my position at the State Attorney's Office when this whole case occurred.
- Q.. But obviously obviously you participated in the last trial?
- A. Yes, I did in the second trial.
- Q. Okay. And you do recall using the name Livia Porche throughout the course of the trial, don't you?
- A. Do I I actually don't, but I probably did.
- Q. Okay.
- A. I mean, I haven't reviewed the transcript of the entire trial.
- Q. And of course you were aware at the time that Mr. Valentine was still married to Ms. Livia Romero Valentine?
- A. I recall that that was a point in contention. It was a big issue of whether or not they had a valid divorce in Louisiana. And Louisiana records and laws were very difficult to get to the bottom of.
- Q. But it would certainly serve your purpose as the State to use the name Livia Porche to inflame the passions of the jury to infer that the victim's married to Ferdinand Porche when she was not?

- A. I believe and I don't recall one hundred percent, but I believe that Ms. Porche, that was the name that she held herself out as. And it she didn't want, especially based on everything that occurred, in any way, shape or form to be addressed by the name Valentine I believe was on her instructions. I mean, I know how she felt and I think that that was her direction.
- Q. But that might have been her direction how she felt, but that was actually a mischaracterization, wasn't it?

THE COURT: I'm sorry, that was a what?

MR. SHAKOOR: A mischaracterization.

BY MR. SHAKOOR:

- Q. Because she actually was not Livia Porche, was she?
- A. Well, she held herself out in the community as Livia Porche. And she believed herself to be married to Mr. Porche. I mean, I think she used the name all the time.
- Q. She used the name, but she wasn't legally Livia Porche?
- A. She believed that she was divorced from Mr. Valentine.
- Q. So you decided to present to the jury what she believed as opposed to what was legally an actual fact?
- A. I don't know if we know what the actual fact I don't recall whether we ever got to the bottom of whether or not she was divorced, because she was dead certain that she had done all of the paperwork to get a divorce in Louisiana. I mean that I know. She the accusation that she wasn't divorced took her I mean, like pulled the rug out form under her. She was very certain that she had been divorced. And, you know, I don't remember if it turned out that she wasn't. I don't remember how that

played out. But I do remember that it was – we tried to get records from parishes in Louisiana and –

Q. So you – but you didn't – so you didn't verify before using the name Livia Porche repeatedly in court at all?

A. I don't –

THE COURT: Say it again now. What did you – BY MR. SHAKOOR:

Q. You didn't verify the woman's name – you didn't verify whether or not you could actually legally use the name Livia Porche in a court of law prior to actually doing so? You just basically went by what she wanted?

A. By what - yeah, the name that she was - she was known by.

MR. KILEY: A moment with counsel, please, sir?

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SHAKOOR: Almost finished, Mr. – Judge. One second, please.

#### BY MR. SHAKOOR:

Q. Ma'am, do you remember seeing a medical examiner report in this case?

A. I'm sure that I - I know that I did. I don't remember it, but, yes.

Q. Would you refute the record if – would you refute the report if it indicates that there was a call received from a Livia Romero on September 14, 1988?

A. No, I'd have no basis to refute that.

Q. Okay. And, ma'am, this wouldn't be the first time in a court of law that you used someone else's incorrect name as a state attorney, is it?

A. What? No. I don't understand your question. But I don't concede that Livia Porche was not a correct name for Livia Porche. That's the name she was known by.

Q. But as you've testified, that's the name that she wished to be known by.

THE COURT: Counsel, I got the point. I mean, you don't – she's not going to acknowledge that you're correct and you're not going to acknowledge she is. I understand your position. Any other questions?

BY MR. MOODY:

Q. Ms. Cox -

MR. KILEY: Hold up. Hold up.

THE COURT: Hold up.

MR. MOODY: Oh I'm sorry.

MR. KILEY: Probably, Judge.

BY MR. SHAKOOR:

Q. Ma'am, as a United States attorney, did you ever hold out someone's name to be correct when it actually not the correct name?

A. Yes, not – not exactly as worded, but, yes.

MR. SHAKOOR: Nothing further, Your Honor.

(PCR Vol. XIX p.400-405).

## **Testimony of Jorge Fernandez**

Jorge Fernandez was called as a witness on behalf and testified that he was the lead detective in the case of the State of Florida versus Terence Valentine. (PCR Vol. XIX p.406-407). Fernandez testified that upon orders from Karen Cox, he searched Mr. Valentine's jail cell. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 408).

## Testimony of Dr. Michael Gamache

Dr. Michael Gamache was called by the State of Florida and testified by telephone at the evidentiary hearing. Dr. Gamache testified that he was retained as a confidential expert by William Fuente sometime in early 1994. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 417). Dr. Gamache met with Mr. Valentine once on March 15, 1994 and William Fuente was present for the three hour examination. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 420). Dr. Gamache testified that the only mitigation he had to present at sentencing would be Mr. Valentine's ability to adapt to incarceration. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 422). Dr. Gamache further testified that had he interviewed any family members he would have reflected it in his bill. (PCR Vol. XIX p. 427).

## **Testimony of Simson Unterberger**

Simson Unterberger was called as a witness on behalf of the defense at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. XX p.436). Mr. Unterberger testified that Livia had several surnames that seemed to come up during the course of the trial. (PCR Vol. XX p. 437). Mr. Unterberger testified that he determined Livia and Mr. Valentine had never been divorced. (PCR Vol. XX p. 437-438). Mr. Unterberger doesn't recall ever filing a motion in limine to insist that Livia Romero or Valentine not be referred to as Livia Porche. (PCR Vol. XX p. 439). Mr. Unterberger concedes that the record would reflect whether the name Livia Porche,

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