IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERANCE VALENTINE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC10-1463 Lower Tribunal No. 88-12996

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0503843 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Valentine claims prejudice, asserting Cox "made it appear as though Terence Valentine was a deranged ex-husband attacking a happily married couple" (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 32). In fact, it now appears Valentine was a deranged husband attacking a happy couple who everyone thought was married at the time. This slight change in roles does nothing to diminish the

- 23 -

horror of the brutal acts Valentine committed on Livia and Ferdinand, and there is no reasonable basis to find that the jury would not have convicted Valentine of first degree murder had it not heard Livia referred to as Mrs. Porche.

The record supports the trial court's ruling to deny Valentine's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel on this basis. This Court must affirm the denial of postconviction relief on this issue.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUMMARILY DENYING OTHER CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Valentine next claims that the trial court erred in summarily denying other allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel premised on his attorney's failure to object to other assertions of prosecutorial misconduct. This issue presents a legal ruling, subject to *de novo* review. <u>Henyard v. State</u>, 992 So. 2d 120, 125 (Fla. 2008) (postconviction motion denied solely on the pleadings presents a legal issue, reviewed *de novo*).

Valentine asserts that counsel failed to object to the prosecutor's guilt phase closing argument, where (1) the prosecutor argued facts without evidentiary support, asserting that Dr. Miller noted blood spatter in the back of the Blazer; (2) the prosecutor expressed her personal belief in the defense presentation of the case; and (3) the prosecutor bolstered her case by suggesting that no one else had any motive to commit these crimes except Valentine. The court below determined that the allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to the comments noted was refuted by the record (V5/918).

The prosecutor's comment about the blood spatter found in the back of the Blazer was supported by evidence at trial;

- 25 -

Corporal Arthur Picard testified that he observed the blood spatter, and pictures from the interior of the vehicle were admitted into evidence which showed the blood spatter (DA. V11/1128, 1131-32). Although Dr. Miller did not personally examine the Mr. Porche's body in the back of the Blazer, he did review the photographs and specifically noted the presence of blood spatter illustrated in the pictures (DA. V11/1176-77). Thus, there was evidentiary support for the prosecutor's argument, and no objection was necessary, or even appropriate. Because this claim was refuted by the record, it was properly summarily denied.

Moreover, the prosecutor's discussion of the defense theory that Livia was lying because she hoped to secure a lot of money from Valentine was not improper. In fact, the prosecutor does not criticize or ridicule the defense, she simply describes the theory, noting counsel "somehow" wants the jury to believe it. The prosecutor does not offer her personal opinion or use offensive language to describe the defense; there is nothing improper in suggesting to a jury that a defense is not credible when that conclusion is supported by the record. A prosecutor may properly comment on the implausible nature of a defense as presented, and no misconduct has been demonstrated which warranted any objection.

The last subclaim, suggesting improper bolstering, reflects only that the prosecutor pointed out that Valentine was the only person with the motive to commit the horrendous acts against Livia and Ferdinand. Certainly a prosecutor cannot personally vouch for the credibility of a witness, or suggest that there is additional evidence which supports the State's case. Lowe v. State, 2 So. 3d 21, 43 (Fla. 2008); Gorby v. State, 630 So. 2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1993). As this Court has held, "Improper bolstering occurs when the State places the prestige of the government behind the witness or indicates that information not presented to the jury supports the witness's testimony." Williamson v. State, 994 So. 2d 1000, 1013 (Fla. 2008), quoting Hutchinson v. State, 882 So. 2d 943, 953 (Fla. 2004). There was no improper bolstering by the State in Valentine's trial, as the prosecutor did not offer any extra-record basis to strengthen Livia's credibility for the jury.

Valentine has again failed to demonstrate any error in the denial of this claim. Even if this Court finds that any of the prosecutor's comments were improper and that reasonable counsel should have objected, the statements fall far short of the misconduct which must be shown to warrant a new trial, as they did not vitiate the fundamental fairness of the trial. <u>See</u> Anderson v. State, 18 So. 3d 501, 518 (Fla. 2009) (rejecting

- 27 -

claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for the failure to object to improper prosecutorial comments, where prosecutor commented on quality of defense and mentioned evidence which had not been presented). The court below noted that attorney Unterberger "made a number of other objections throughout the State's closing argument" (V13/2436). In addition, the jury was initially instructed and later reminded that what the attorneys argued was not evidence, and that jurors should rely on their own recollection of the testimony (Order at 18; DA. V15/1659-60, 1712, 1723, 1755, 1760).

On these facts, no deficient performance or prejudice has been shown. This Court must affirm the denial of postconviction relief on this issue.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING VALENTINE'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO INVESTIGATE AND PRESENT MITIGATING EVIDENCE AT THE SENTENCING PHASE.

Valentine's final issue disputes the ruling denying his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial. This claim was developed at an evidentiary hearing below; the trial court's factual findings are entitled to deference, while the legal rulings are reviewed *de novo*. <u>Stephens</u>, 748 So. 2d at 1033. As will be seen, this claim was properly denied below, and this Court must affirm the ruling to deny relief.

In denying this claim below, the court specifically found that counsel performed reasonably, but even if the mental mitigation found by Dr. Dee should have been presented, it would not have made any difference to the outcome (V13/2468-70). The court noted that counsel had Valentine evaluated by Dr. Gamache, and counsel was not deficient in choosing to present only a stipulation that Gamache would testify that Valentine had a good prison record and was capable of adjusting to prison life (V13/2469). The court thoroughly evaluated the postconviction testimony offered by Dr. Dee, but ultimately concluded that even adding the statutory mitigator of extreme disturbance, the strong aggravating factors, including both cold, calculated, and premeditated and heinous, atrocious or cruel, would still outweigh the mitigation, had Dee testified (V13/2462-66, 2469-70).

According to Valentine, his attorneys did not have him evaluated by a competent mental health professional, and consequently valuable mental health mitigation was never offered for consideration at sentencing. With regard to this issue, Walter Lopez testified at the hearing that he explored the availability of mental mitigation through an expert initially retained by William Fuente, who served as Valentine's penalty phase counsel until he was sworn in as a judge (V17/159-64). Lopez knew the expert, Dr. Michael Gamache, had conducted a psychological examination of Valentine and reviewed a number of records in an attempt to discover mental mitigation (V17/170-71). Lopez had used Dr. Gamache as an expert in the past and commonly used for forensic that knew Gamache was issues, including capital mitigation work (V17/173-74). Lopez conferred with Fuente and Gamache and ultimately entered into а stipulation with the prosecution that Valentine could adjust well to prison life and make a positive contribution if sentenced to life (V17/169-72).

- 30 -

Both Unterberger and Lopez met with Valentine frequently over the course of their representation in this case (V17/175; V20/500). Neither attorney ever saw or heard anything that caused either one of them to question Valentine's competency or mental health (V17/174-76; V20/500-501). Valentine appeared to be intelligent, understanding and responsive to Unterberger (V20/500-501). Valentine's postconviction expert, Dr. Henry Dee, noted that Valentine did not want his attorneys to present any evidence of an emotional defect, and in fact was rather tight-lipped about his history and background (V17/202). Valentine provided some information to investigators which was incorrect and withheld information from his attorneys that could be useful to them (V17/202). According to Dee, Valentine would minimize any psychopathology and present himself as sharp, intelligent and capable (V17/210-11).

Lopez was familiar with his burden on mitigation and with the statutory mental mitigating factors in particular, but he was reluctant to pursue these mitigators because they would be inconsistent with the guilt phase defense of alibi. Although Lopez had previously argued an inconsistent position in penalty phases in other cases and understood that it was separate from the guilt phase proceeding, it was difficult to be part of a

- 31 -

team that was taking a contrary position (V17/181-86). Although Valentine claims that Lopez focused on competency rather than mental mitigation, Lopez testified that he was aware that the statutory mitigators were broader than competency concerns and he was familiar with the mitigators and the relevant penalty phase issues (V17/182-85).

Unfortunately, Dr. Gamache did not recall much of his work in this case, but he did testify to his general practice on developing mental mitigation (V19/417-23). Dr. Gamache has been licensed in Florida since 1985, and has a wealth of experience with the issues that arise in capital cases (V19/414-16). Valentine did not present any evidence suggesting that Gamache's work had been deficient and did not offer any specific criticisms of his findings in this case. Walter Lopez testified that if Gamache had provided anything in addition to the mitigation outlined in his letter, the defense would have used it in the penalty phase (V19/379-80).

On these facts, no deficient performance has been shown with regard to Lopez's actions in investigating and presenting mental health mitigation. Lopez explored the issue with a retained expert, consulted other attorneys familiar with the case, and made a reasonable strategic decision about the best

- 32 -

way to present the expert's findings. Although Valentine complains that Gamache did not conduct a full neuropsychological battery of testing, he has not demonstrated that such an evaluation was constitutionally necessary. Similarly, there is no constitutional obligation for an attorney to seek the advice with of а second expert regard to mental mitigation, particularly in a case where the defendant shows no sign of any mental disease or disorder and where any further mental mitigation would be inconsistent with the guilt phase defense.

Trial counsel have great discretion in determining whether and how to present mental health evidence. Jones v. State, 928 2006). So. 2d 1178 (Fla. In addition, many cases have recognized that the presentation of more favorable mental health testimony in postconviction does not render counsel's investigation into mitigation ineffective. Pace v. State, 854 So. 2d 167, 175 (Fla. 2003); Davis v. State, 875 So. 2d 359, 372 (Fla. 2003); Rivera v. State, 859 So. 2d 495, 504 (Fla. 2003); Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 985-86 (Fla. 2000); Pietri v. State, 885 So. 2d 245, 261 (Fla. 2004) (no ineffective assistance where counsel made reasonable efforts to secure a mental health expert to examine the defendant for mitigation purposes); Jones v. State, 732 So. 2d 313, 320 (Fla. 1999); see

- 33 -

also, <u>Davis v. Singletary</u>, 119 F.3d 1471, 1475 (11th Cir. 1997) (noting that, "mere fact a defendant can find, years after the fact, a mental health expert who will testify favorably for him does not demonstrate that counsel was ineffective for failing to produce that expert at trial").

Lopez obviously considered his options and made a tactical decision about the scope of the defense case in mitigation. The law is well settled that, when such strategic decisions are made, counsel cannot be deemed to have been ineffective. Sexton v. State, 997 So. 2d 1073, 1085 (Fla. 1985) (denying ineffective assistance claim based on presentation of mental mitigation); Darling v. State, 966 So. 2d 366, 377-78 (Fla. 2007) (noting attorneys are entitled to rely on trial experts); Burns v. State, 944 So. 2d 234, 243-44 (Fla. 2006) (upholding reasonableness of decision against presenting mental mitigation); Looney v. State, 941 So. 2d 1017, 1029 (Fla. 2006) Counsel in this case investigated potential mitigation (same). through Dr. Gamache, and made a strategic decision as to the best evidence to present. Such an informed, reasonable decision refutes any allegation of deficient performance with regard to the failure to present additional mental mitigation evidence.

Moreover, even if some possible deficiency could be found

- 34 -

on these facts, Valentine has clearly failed to demonstrate any possible prejudice. Dr. Dee testified at the evidentiary hearing that Valentine's exaggerated sense of grandiosity led Dee to believe that Valentine suffered from an extreme mania, an overinflated sense of self and a supreme, unrealistic selfconfidence that amounted to both a mental and an emotional disturbance (V17/200-01). Dee characterized this as a mood disturbance, specifically a bipolar disorder which manifested itself through inappropriate mood states (V17/214-16). Dee also believed that Valentine suffered from brain damage, which was another extreme mental or emotional disturbance (V17/226). Dee damage was a possibility because concluded that brain Valentine's sister testified in the penalty phase that Valentine had sustained several head injuries as a young child, including one time when Valentine was rendered unconscious, and because Valentine's testing revealed a discrepancy between his memory functioning and his mental functioning (V17/204-08, 218-23).

The mitigation offered by Dr. Dee would not be entitled to any significant weight for a number of reasons. First of all, his conclusions are speculative and not particularly supported by his own testimony. For example, he concludes that there is brain damage based on anecdotal testimony by Frances Valentine

- 35 -

about head injuries when Valentine was young, but Dee has somewhat overstated the testimony, noting that Frances indicated at one point that Valentine was unconscious "for a substantial period of time," while Frances testified that Valentine was knocked unconscious but did not indicate the condition lasted for any particular time, let alone the "substantial" time that Dee attributed to it (V17/205; see DA. V16/1830-32). Dee finds support for his brain damage diagnosis in the psychological testing he conducted, which reflected that Valentine's general memory functioning was significantly lower than his general mental functioning (V17/219-22), but Dee did not identify any testing, such as MRI or PET scans, that could verify or confirm the damage and he could not identify where any damage was localized (V17/222-23).

Dee also concluded that Valentine demonstrated his mania by writing letters to his attorneys, giving directions and trying to act as co-counsel (V17/215), but most attorneys appreciate that many criminal defendants are active participants with the defense team, and Dee admitted Valentine may have simply wanted to have input and that this was not necessarily part of his exaggerated self-worth (V17/245). Dee was under the impression that Valentine had waived the presentation of any mitigation and

- 36 -

cited this as another example of a defect in his mental functioning (V17/201-02, 230), but actually Valentine only waived the jury recommendation and Dee, in fact, admitted that his stated reason for doing so seemed rational (V17/239-42). Similarly, Dee acknowledged that Valentine's threatening phone calls to Livia after the offenses could be seen as reasonable and rational if Valentine's motive was to scare Livia and intimidate her into not testifying, but Dee saw them instead as an example of Valentine's magical, grandiose thoughts (V17/199-201, 239).

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